QA 5.5-94

OK 7
APP 1/8
FILED
SID J. WHITE
FEB 16 1994
CLERK, SUPREME COURT
By _____
Chief Deputy Clerk

SUPREME COURT
STATE OF FLORIDA

APPEAL CASE NO. 82, ⁴⁸⁹~~172~~

JAMES HALLBERG,
Petitioner,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,
Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE SECOND DISTRICT
COURT OF APPEAL

INITIAL BRIEF

Robert L. Doyel
Florida Bar No. 0714429
343 W. Davidson Street
Suite 102
P.O. Box 1476
Bartow, Florida 33830
(813) 533-2646
Attorney for
Petitioner

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AND OF THE CASE

On the eighth of January, 1991, James Hallberg was charged by information with five counts of lewd acts on a child and three counts of engaging a child in sexual activity, all alleged offenses being alleged to have occurred between June 1, 1988, and August 31, 1988. The three counts of engaging a child in sexual activity allege acts which were identical to acts alleged in three corresponding counts of lewd acts on a child. (R 1170-77).

The first witness called by the state was the alleged victim, S█████ S█████. (R 271). She testified that during her eighth grade school year, Hallberg was her favorite teacher. (R 275-77). She said that in December of that year, Hallberg began making jokes of a sexual nature with her (R 279) and telling her that she was the only one who appreciated him and he wanted her to play a more important role in his life. (R 280).

In February, she began getting rides home from school with Mr. Hallberg because of her parents' work schedules. (R 281-82). She said that in their conversations on the way home, Hallberg talked about his wife and kids a lot and told her that he loved her. (R 283). She said that he started requiring her to write him notes saying how important he was to her and that she was glad that she had met him. (R 284). She then identified state's composite exhibit 2 as a series of written communications from Hallberg to her. (R 285). Although the exhibits contained words of affection and encouragement, they did not include any sexual references. (R 286 - 94).

She said the first time "anything" happened was the second or third week of February when he made her kiss him good-bye before she got out of the car when he took her home. (R 295). She said that she was excused from her class during first period on Fridays because of her grades and that she usually took the attendance to the office. She said that when she went to the office she "had to walk past [Hallberg's] classroom to get there, and his door was open." (R 298). She said that he would stop her on her way back and tell her to come in; she complied because she "was afraid of him." (R 298). She said that from the first time he kissed her, he told her that if she ever told anyone "he would have to do something he would regret." (R 299). She said that when she got inside his classroom, he would close the door and tell her how much he loved her and wanted to marry her and he would kiss her in a French kiss and sometimes he would touch her breasts and sometimes touch her between her legs. (R 299). This kind of activity continued the rest of the school year, she said. (R 300). She said she did not tell anyone because she was afraid of what their reaction would be. (R 300).

She testified that some time in May he asked her if she would help him during the summer because he was going to be teaching "Alpha History" the next year and had never taught the class before. He gave her a book that he would be using and asked her to come up with ideas for the class. (R 302).

She testified that a couple of weeks after school was out that year, he came to her home unexpectedly. While he was there, she

said, he told her he loved her, kissed her, touched her breasts and between her legs, and when he touched her between her legs, he did so under her underpants and put one of his fingers inside her. (R 304-05).

She said that he came to her house for the last time in July or early August of that summer. (R 306). She said that he touched her breasts and between her legs inside her clothing, forced her to perform oral sex on him, performed oral sex on her, and had intercourse with her. (R 308-13).

She said that when he started to leave, he made her hug him. At just that point, her mother walked in, home from work early. (R 315). After Hallberg left, her mother asked her what they had been doing, and she told her mother that Hallberg had just come by to see her. She said that she was embarrassed and that she was afraid of Hallberg and that is why she did not tell her mother what had happened. (R 315).

She said when school started the next year, she avoided him as much as possible, but she was in his class. (R 318). Some time in late October or early November, she said, he called her into the hall and told her she was being a bitch and that he wanted her out of his class. (R 319). She said that the principal heard about the incident and called her into his office to ask what happened, and she told him. She said that she then stayed out of Hallberg's class for a few days. (R 321).

There was a remarkable amount of hearsay testimony elicited throughout this trial with little or no objection from either

party. For example, S [REDACTED] S [REDACTED] was asked whether she told anyone else about "the sexual abuse" and she indicated that she told a teacher, Mrs. Reynolds, that something else had happened. (R 328). Stinson testified that she told Mrs. Reynolds that Hallberg had fondled her and had kissed her, but that was all he had done. She did not tell Reynolds anything about sexual intercourse. She said she did not say anything about intercourse because she was embarrassed. (R 329).

S [REDACTED] said that Reynolds told her that she was going to tell the principal and gave S [REDACTED] a day to tell her parents. S [REDACTED] testified that she left her mother a note saying that Mr. Hallberg had fondled her and kissed her. (R 330).

S [REDACTED] said that she met with the principal (Ward) and the assistant principal (Henson) a couple of days later. She said she did not tell them what had happened because they told her that someone from the county superintendent's office would be coming later that afternoon, and they sent her back to class. Later that afternoon she had a meeting with Ward, Henson, and "Mr. Duncan from the county office." (R 332). S [REDACTED] said that she "still couldn't tell them because ... it was three men against me and I was afraid of them." (R 332). She told them that Hallberg had touched her but she did not tell them where, so they asked her to write it down. Ward sent her into a nearby office where she said she wrote that Hallberg "had kissed me and that he had fondled my breasts and in between my legs." (R 333). She gave the note to Ward. (R 333). She said that Ward said it was something that

should not have happened and that he was going to call her parents. (R 334). Neither law enforcement nor HRS ever contacted S██████████, nor did she ever have a physical exam. (R 334).

Nothing else happened until February of the next school year. At that time she told one of her boyfriends that a former teacher had overextended his boundaries. She and the boyfriend then broke up and he started telling people about what she had told him. She got upset and made allegations about a former teacher to current teachers in a letter in May, 1990. She was then at the end of the tenth grade and at highschool, a school different from the one at which Hallberg had been her teacher. (R 335-36). Her vehicle for telling her teacher was an assignment which was introduced as state's Exhibit 3. (R 337). That exhibit is set forth verbatim in the transcript at R 338 to 340. Before turning the assignment in to her teacher, she showed it to another teacher who took her to the principal and then to a guidance counselor. (R 340-42). The principal (Dunn) wrote something on the assignment, gave it back to her, and told her to turn it in. (R 342).

S██████████ testified that when she was in the office of the guidance counselor (Williams), the principal (Dunn) asked her if she had been raped, and she replied that she had. By the term "rape" she meant forced intercourse. (R 343). Later that day or the next a Mr. Cox from the county office talked to her and asked her to write down what had happened and for her to be specific. (R 343). She wrote it out in the guidance counselor's office (R 344). Her written statement was introduced as state's Exhibit 4 and is

set forth verbatim at R 345 to 349. In this written statement S██████ mentioned for the first time that she had had sexual intercourse with Hallberg. Although the statement was in great detail, it included nothing about his having performed oral sex on her or her having performed oral sex on him. (R 348).

S██████ testified that between the time she told Ward that she had been fondled and kissed and the time she told Dunn that she had had sexual intercourse, she had become sexually active with a boyfriend, had mistakenly thought she was pregnant, and had told one of her teachers about her fears of being pregnant. (R 350-51).

S██████ testified that she met with HRS investigators Jim Ernst and Renna Seigal and law enforcement officer Tim Ryan. She said she told them what happened but when she got to the part about oral sex she could not talk about it in the presence of the two men. At Ryan's suggestion, the two men stepped out of the room, and she then told Seigal that Hallberg had made her perform oral sex. When the men returned to the room, she repeated the story to them. (R 352-54).

On cross-examination, defense counsel established that in the year before Hallberg became S██████'s favorite teacher, Sandy Reynolds had been her favorite teacher and that she had had a close relationship with her. (R 355-56).

With regard to the Fridays that S██████ said she had to go into Hallberg's classroom, defense counsel established that she had gone to his classroom nearly every Friday because her "teacher just decided Fridays is S██████S██████'s day to take attendance." (R

361). She said that on those Fridays when she went into Hallberg's classroom, he shut the door and locked it. (R 362). She said he locked her in approximately ten times after January of 1988. (R 362). She said that she always had to walk by Hallberg's classroom on Friday mornings because there was not another way to get to the office. (R 364). She said that Hallberg would come out into the hall and stop her and put his hand on her arm and guide her into his classroom. (R 364). She said that at first she told him that she did not want to go but then after a while she "just kind of went along with it." (R 365).

She admitted that Hallberg gave rides to any student who asked him. (R 369). She testified that the notes Hallberg required her to write he had her pass to him during class where other students could see the note being transferred. (R 371). She said that she would call Hallberg at home and leave messages on his answering machine for him to call back and that she did so because she was afraid of him and sometimes did so because he had called her and left a message. (R 373). She indicated that after Hallberg had started threatening her and making her do things, she nevertheless asked him to begin giving her rides home. (R 374). She said that she got Hallberg a birthday present but did so because he made her. (R 376-77). She admitted that she had bought gifts for other teachers and that she had telephoned other teachers; her parents would, therefore, think that neither activity was unusual. (R 378).

She admitted that she had never told anyone that Hallberg had

French kissed her prior to her trial testimony. (R 378-79). She admitted that when she talked to principal Ward at Crystal Lake Jr. High and "the other gentlemen", she told them only that Hallberg had kissed her and fondled her and did not tell them he had done anything else. Specifically she did not say anything about Hallberg forcing her to have oral sex, about Hallberg performing oral sex on her, or about the alleged sexual intercourse. (R 379-80).

In court, she testified that she did not recall whether Hallberg ejaculated in her mouth, but she admitted having previously said that she thought he might have. (R 382-83).

In court, she testified that 15 or 20 minutes passed between the time the oral sex stopped and he inserted his penis in her vagina. (R 383). She then reread her letter of May, 1990, in which she stated that the whole episode "lasted 10 or 15 minutes." (R 385).

She admitted having testified at deposition that on one of the occasions upon which he was supposed to have inserted his finger into her vagina that he had only touched her on the outside of her clothes. (R 395-96). She admitted that after she had allegedly been raped, she encouraged another female student at Crystal Lake Jr. High School to enroll in Hallberg's class. (R 401-02). She claimed that she became afraid of Hallberg in December of 1987 but in February of 1988 began asking him for rides home after school. (R 405). She admitted not telling Ryan, Ernst, and Seigal that Hallberg had performed oral sex on her. (R 411). She also

admitted that while she testified in court that she did not know whether Hallberg ejaculated when he was supposedly forcing her to perform oral sex on him, she had testified at deposition that she thought he had. (R 415). She denied ever talking to a student named D██████ M██████ about getting Hallberg fired. (R 417).

The highschool principal, Dunn, testified about state's Exhibit 3. He said when S██████ was talking to him, she was having trouble making a statement. Perhaps she was hyperventilating, and she was crying, so he asked her to write everything down. He asked her if she was raped and she answered yes. (R 429-30). It took her about an hour and a half to write her statement. (R 433). On cross-examination, Dunn indicated that when S██████ first turned the statement in to him, it contained nothing about rape and that he told her she had to include rape if it really happened, so she added the last three pages. (R 437). He acknowledged that S██████ never mentioned any form of oral sex or digital penetration. (R 438-39).

Dunn indicated that he was sure there was a fire regulation that prevented schools from locking classroom doors from the inside. (R 439).

Sandra Reynolds was an English teacher at Crystal Lake Jr. Highschool. (R 449). She met S██████ in S██████'s seventh grade. S██████ was academically superior, perhaps Reynolds's best student. S██████ was her helper, and she gave S██████ rides home nearly every afternoon in the ninth grade. However, her relationship with S██████ was not as strong during S██████'s eighth grade as it was

during the seventh and ninth grades. (R 451-52).

During S█████'s ninth grade year, S█████ seemed quieter and occupied by something, not as buoyant or effervescent as before. (R 454). She testified that Jim Hallberg had called S█████ a bitch, that S█████ was taken from Hallberg's class and placed in the library, and that from that time forward S█████ came by to see Reynolds each morning. During those visits, S█████ "disclosed" that she had been kissed and fondled by Hallberg. Reynolds said she told her principal, Ward. (R 455-56). Reynolds did not report the incident to HRS herself. (R 457). She said that several days later Ward came to her classroom and asked her again to repeat what S█████ had told her. Ward then said, "Well she's not saying anything down stairs. She's written something down, but she refuses to say it. And can you tell me, you know, did she tell you anything?" (R 458).

Reynolds then testified that a Mr. Duncan from the schoolboard came to the office and she met with Duncan and Ward and again told them what happened. Yet again she repeated that S█████ had told her about Hallberg kissing and fondling her. (R 458).

Reynolds testified that Duncan's reaction made her angry because he just tried to "explain it off" as a school-girl crush. (R 459). She was also allowed, without objection, to give her opinion "that something inappropriate had happened." (R 459).

Reynolds related a conversation with Ward in which Ward allegedly told her that Dunn had called him and asked about a letter that S█████ had written but Ward could not remember. She

testified that she said to Ward, "I told you. Don't you remember my telling you about S█████, S█████'s accusation that Jim had kissed and fondled her?" She said that Ward responded, "No, I don't remember a thing." (R 460-61).

Reynolds testified that Duncan arrived at the school and went into conference with Ward before calling her in. She said, "I should have known better than to go in alone, but I went in alone." (R 461). She said that Ward asked her what she had said that she had previously told him, and she testified that her response was that S█████ had accused Hallberg of touching, fondling, and kissing her. Reynolds then testified that Ward told her he had never heard those accusations. She said that Duncan told her that he had never seen her and was not present when she had told Ward. She said she told Duncan, "Of course you were there." (R 461-62).

On cross-examination, Reynolds said that she did not report S█████'s allegations to HRS because she had told her principal. (R 465). She claimed that when Detective Ryan called her she did not refuse to talk to him but simply did not return any of his several calls. (R 466-67). When asked whether the classroom doors at Crystal Lake Jr. High can be locked from the inside, she responded, "No, no, I would need to go out, put the key in and unlock it." (R 467). She also indicated that it was possible to get to the office without going past Mr. Hallberg's class. (R 469).

On redirect, she testified that she contacted a lawyer who told her that she was not obligated to report the incident to HRS

because her teaching contract did not require her to do so.

S█████'s mother testified that she was very proud of her daughter for having been asked to assist Hallberg in the curriculum. She said that the last time Hallberg came to her house, she came home from work early and found him there. He was very nervous and very jumpy. She said he told her to be patient with her daughter because she was nervous and upset about starting the ninth grade. She then testified that her daughter had never been nervous about school in her life. Without objection, she testified, "deep inside I knew he had done something, I just knew. I don't know how I knew, but I asked S█████ right away, I said, 'S█████, did he touch you?' and she ... said no." (R 482). She said her daughter got very defensive and angry with her. (R 483). She testified that her daughter had been very happy-go-lucky before the ninth grade, but after the ninth grade started all she wanted to do was study and had no social life any more. (R 484).

She said that she and her husband were called by Ward to the school and had a meeting with Ward and Henson and Hallberg to discuss allegations that Hallberg called S█████ a bitch. All that was discussed at the meeting was the "bitch" incident and S█████'s complaints that Hallberg did not teach any more. She said that Hallberg was very nervous, alternately sitting down, standing up, and pacing. She said that Ward recommended that her daughter should stay in the class, and they agreed under the condition that things would change. (R 484-86).

She testified that about two weeks later she got into her car

one morning and discovered a note from her daughter in which her daughter said that Hallberg had fondled and kissed her. She said she called Ward and eventually went to the school and told him what her daughter had said, but Ward said it was Stinson's word against Hallberg's and that nothing could be done. The mother did not consider calling HRS. (R 487-89). She did not tell Ward anything about coming home and finding Hallberg at her house. (R 490).

Stinson's father testified that his daughter had gotten rides from teachers before and that she always had a close relationship with a lot of teachers. (R 501). He said that after the allegations of fondling came to light, he called Ward and asked Ward what would be done. He said Ward told him that he could move his daughter out of Hallberg's class but that not much more could be done because it was her word against his. Mr. Stinson testified that since he could not get anything done through Ward, he decided to deal with Hallberg himself, so he called Hallberg's house. Hallberg's wife answered the phone, and Mr. Stinson asked to speak to Hallberg. After a pause, Hallberg's wife came back on the phone and told him Hallberg did not want to talk to him at the moment but would talk to him at a later time. According to Mr. Stinson, he then responded, "Well, do you know that your husband molested my daughter?" (R 507-08). According to Mr. Stinson, Mrs. Hallberg's reaction was, "Just silence, she didn't say anything." (R 508).

Mr. Stinson acknowledged that he did not report anything to HRS. (R 509). He admitted that he never mentioned to Ward that Mrs. Stinson had said anything about coming home and finding

Hallberg hugging their daughter. (R 511). And he said that his daughter told him that she had a crush on N. B., the man who was giving her tennis lessons during the summer before the ninth grade. (R 515).

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