DA5-5-94

# FILED

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FEB 24 1994

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

JAMES WALTER HALLBERG,

Petitioner,

v.

Case No. 82,189

STATE OF FLORIDA,
Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR REVIEW FROM
THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL
STATE OF FLORIDA

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

ROBERT J. KRAUSS
Assistant Attorney General
Chief of Criminal Law, Tampa
Florida Bar No. 238538

SUSAN D. DUNLEVY
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 229032
2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700
Tampa, Florida 33607-2366
(813)873-4739

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

##

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

her gradewise due to their friendship, so, if anything, he "graded her down a little bit" and was "super careful" about giving her latitude in turning in assignments late because he didn't want anyone saying that S had a high grade average because she was a friend of his (R 925-6). The other birthday card, in which he told State she was a "gift," was saying that he would not betray any of her confidences, some of which were "extremely sensitive" (R 926-7). Petitioner put the quotation from Lake Wobegon in one of his cards to her to boost her self-esteem because she didn't seem to think much of herself unless she "did something good" or performed at a certain level (R 1000). She was one of those occasional rewarding students who had blossomed and grown under his tutelage (R 103). He also had very few real friends and considered a real friend, as Samma was, a gift in the sense that a person who "appreciates how hard you work for them, listens to your counsel, cares about you, too, as a person" is a gift (R 927-8). He signed the card "Jim" mainly because he never signed a card "Mr. Hallberg," though States was sometimes on a first name basis with him (R 928).

stand called Petitioner an average of about twice a week during April and May of her 8th grade year (R 906). She began calling him just to chat right after E-team competition ended, and he told her to talk to her parents (R 907-8). She said she felt like she was the mother in her relationship with her mother and couldn't go to her father (R 908). When Stand first began calling, she was not very specific about any problems, and it seemed to him that she was "feeling me out to...see if I would listen to her" (R 1032-3). He did not see it as an infatuation (R 1033). He could not tell whether he was a father image to her; she said he was her confidant

(R 1038). He telephoned her only when she had called him first and left a message (R 909, 911). She voluntarily came to his classroom during his free period; he did not force her (R 989).

Petitioner wanted Salas to dissect the chapters of the Alpha class textbook into themes and give him her point of view because he had never taught an Alpha class before, teaching gifted students is very difficult and is done differently from the way he had been trained, and Salas had been in gifted classes since elementary school (R 929-36). He had originally arranged to meet her at the park to give her the course textbook "because it was more convenient for me and I didn't really want to drop the book off at the house...I don't know why" (R 936). Salas didn't show up at the park, but, a few hours later, called "wondering where I was" and said, "Well, I'm waiting to the house, drop it by the house," so he did (R 937). Salas was happy to help Petitioner because she was bored (R 937).

In July, See said she wanted to go to the University of Michigan Law School and be a lawyer, and he said he had friends in Michigan and would try to combine seeing them and attending her law school graduation (R 938-9). She said she needed to improve her public speaking, "come out a little bit more," and he felt that one of the reasons she liked him as a teacher was that he could articulate very well (R 1071-2). The first he heard about her wanting to be a teacher was at trial (R 1084).

When school let out for the summer, Settle's telephone calls to Petitioner increased in frequency to one or two a day (R 940). He also went to her house 6 or 7 times during the summer (R 1034). About 10 days after he brought her the textbook, around the end of

June, she called and asked him to come to her house, and he went (R 939-40). It was late afternoon, and her father was there (R 940-1). Same wanted clarification on the project Petitioner had given her (R 941). She indicated to Petitioner that she was proud to be asked to do it, although "[s]he was at times up, at some times down about the thing. I couldn't tell all the time how she felt about it" (R 941-2). Petitioner's next visit to her house, on the morning of July 5, was just "a drop by" to say hi (R 942). Other girls were there, and he stayed for only 5 or 10 minutes (R 942-3). He did not know Same 's parents wouldn't be home then (R 943). Her father was home during his first 2 visits to her house, and when swas home alone, her parents knew he was coming because he was coming specifically to pick something up (R 1045).

The next time Petitioner went to Same's house was around July 15 after she telephoned him, said she wanted to talk, and asked him to come over (R 943-4). When he arrived, she said she really liked her tennis coach, Name Barrand, who was 7 years older than she, and was really going to miss him when he went back to school (R 944). She called Petitioner about Barrand sometimes once or twice a day that summer (R 104). When she called and asked him to come over this time, Petitioner got the impression that she didn't want to discuss Barrand over the phone this time (R 1070). Petitioner cautioned her about the "huge" age gap between them (R 944). Same also said she didn't want her parents to know of her interest in Barrand, and Petitioner advised her to begin letting her parents know about it by dropping first subtle and then heavier and heavier hints if she intended to continue the relationship (R 945). This visit lasted 30-45 minutes (R 1070). During this conversation,

when Petitioner said it would be unreasonable for her to expect Black to wait till she finished high school or college before they got married, Stark started to cry, and Petitioner put his arm around her, hugged her, kissed her on the forehead, and left (R 945-6). This was the first time he had ever touched her (R 946). He later admitted having put his hand on Stark's hand once in the car when she "was upset about her dad" (R 1059).

Petitioner stopped by Same's house again about a week later, about July 22, at her request (R 948). She had told him about arranging to meet Barran as she and her parents were taking a stroll and, a few days later, about going to Barran's house and sleeping there for a few hours (R 948-9). Petitioner's response was "keep the relationship vertical, not horizontal" (R 949). So, on this next visit, he gave her the card that read "Please don't rush away from your youth..." (R 947-8). Petitioner did not know Barran and did not feel jealous of him or feel he was a threat to Petitioner's relationship to Same as a teacher and mentor (R 949).

The next time Petitioner saw S was on or about July 21, a few days before his 40th birthday, in response to her telephone request that he come over and pick up his birthday card and gift (R 949-50). She gave him a set of chocolate dentures and a little blue doll that had written directions to "Take a deep breath, squeeze three times and rest ten minutes" that she said her parents had helped her pick out (R 950-1). He laughed and thanked her but did not touch her (R 951).

Petitioner went on vacation from July 29-August 4 and brought Shack a green glass vase as a reward for her work for his upcoming class (R 951-3). He didn't deliver it to her till August 10 or 12 (R 953). When he brought it to her, he asked her if she had finished her work on the project and learned that she hadn't done anything on it (R 953). It was late afternoon, and just as he was reaching for the doorknob, Same's mom arrived home (R 954). Petitioner was surprised—shocked to find the doorknob moving as he went to turn it (R 954). He was not hugging Same when her mother walked in (R 954). He was not physically capable of ejaculating twice within 10 minutes (R 1018). When Same's mother came in, he said, "Same seems upset. Why don't you talk to her," then left immediately (R 1076, 1078, 1080).

stand never told Petitioner that she hated him (R 954-5). She continued to telephone him, and during one call, he asked her to help him set up his classroom on Friday, August 19 (R 955). Standard and Game did help him on that date (R 955). Standard told him that day that she wanted to get James Beauty to join his Alpha history class because she thought James would like his teaching (R 1072). Standard knew before her 8th grade school year ended that Research Hermann was going to be in the Alpha history class that fall (R 1084).

The following Sunday afternoon, as Petitioner was having an argument with his wife, Serial called, and Petitioner said, "I cannot talk you [sic] right now. I'll talk to you tomorrow in school" (school started the next day) (R 956-8). He was agitated with his wife and therefore spoke to Serial in a harsh tone (R 958).

The Alpha class would often play Risk or Trivial Pursuit (R 964). State initially participated somewhat, but her attitude was a little distant and she got quieter (R 965). Her depression became progressively worse (R 1083). She appeared to be "coasting" in her schoolwork, not doing the work she should have been doing (R 1083).

Her telephone calls had also stopped (R 965). The only time she called Petitioner after the call on August 21 was a quick call on August 29 or 30 during which she was "real quiet" (R 971-2). Petitioner was surprised; he did not think she was upset with him, but thought she was depressed over Barrier's leaving (R 965-6). On cross-examination, in response to the question whether he was saying that Same had begun to hate him and later accused him of fondling and rape because he was "short" with her in a phone call, Petitioner testified:

A. I'm saying, yes, her attitude changed radically toward me. I'm saying, like I said in my written deposition, that when I said that I was wasn't [sic] going to take her home any more, that she slammed the car door and nearly -- and I said right there, "Okay, I'll take you home."

(R 1065)

It was back in April of Same's 8th grade year that Petitioner told her he did not want to give her rides home any more because it was an inconvenience for him, but she got upset, so he agreed to continue the rides (R 1074). When reminded of the reason he had given on deposition, that "I didn't want the people to talk and think that something was going on. I didn't want any hassle," he testified that that was also one of his reasons (R 1075).

months of the school year (R 967-8). Many of the students, including Same, were turning assignments in late (R 969). When this happened, Petitioner deducted points for lateness, for Same as for the other students (R 969-70). Same attitude grew progressively worse as the weeks wore on (R 970). Petitioner was concerned and asked her Spanish teacher to speak to her and find out what the matter was (R 970). He also spoke to Carver and asked her if she

knew Brenner, but she apparently didn't (R 970-1). Carver later mentioned to him the letter assignment had written (R 971). On the day of the "bitch incident," See was participating only a little or not at all (R 972-3). Petitioner was playing against the entire class and was winning, and State said to him something like "You really know it all, don't you" or "You really think you're smart, don't you" in front of the class (R 973). It was at this point that he called her out of the room (R 973). In the hall, he asked, "What is matter [sic] with you, what has changed? What is the problem?" (R 974). However, it was the end of the period, and the bell rang (R 974). Deswas upset with Petitioner because he had given D a "disciplinary step" that day (R 974-5). Dame's corroboration of States 's allegation was not mentioned to Petitioner (R 996). States never came back to his class, and he had no further contact with her (R 977). A week after the "bitch incident," on November 7, Ward called him in regarding the allegation that he had attempted to fondle Summer (R 978). The accusations "came as a total shock" to Petitioner (R 1067). States was originally supposed to return to his class on November 8 after a "cooling off period" but did not and was transferred out of his class as a result of the fondling allegation (R 977-9, 995-6).

Mr. State telephoned Petitioner's home that night (R 980). Petitioner did not talk to State because he "thought it would be a bad idea...to talk to anybody at this point" (R 980). He had not yet told his wife about this latest allegation, and she found out when State said, "Do you know that you're married to a child molester?" (R 979-80). However, Ward said the next day that States parents would not be pursuing the matter (R 1073-4).

At the hearing on Petitioner's second motion for new trial, held on September 12, 1991 (R 1198), Robert Mohler testified that State had once accused him of "[f]lashing her" (R 1203). This apparently happened when State and Robert were in the 6th grade, at which time Robert was about 12 years old (R 1202, 1205). The accusation was investigated only by the principal and a secretary, who questioned Robert about it (R 1203). Robert and State "hung around with each other" that year (R 1202), and "I guess she got tired of me hanging around with her so she said something to get rid of me" (R 1204). A man, whom the witness indicated as being present at the hearing, had come to Robert's house about a month before the hearing and asked him about the incident (R 1205).

Defense attorney Mars explained that April Mullins, now an FSU student, who had read about the instant case in the newspaper, had told a girl named Monica at a party that State had said that Robert Mohler had raped her (R 1206). Mars told his investigator to find Robert Mohler, which he did, and that was how this new evidence came to light (R 1206). Defense counsel did not state when this party occurred, how or when he learned of Mullins or Monica, or when he first directed his investigator to find Mohler.

Betty Glatzau testified that she did not know whether the note she saw was signed because "I did not read it" (R 1208). She never saw the note again and did not know where it was (R 1209). No one had ever asked her about the note before (R 1209). On an unstated date, as she was preparing to leave the office for home, Henson, Joel Whitten, the other secretary in the office, and possibly one or two other people were talking about this case and said something about a note, and Glatzau said she had seen that note (R 1210).

Asked why she hadn't said something before, she responded that no one had asked her and it was none of her business (R 1210-1).

Defense attorney Mars then argued that this new information had not been available at the time of trial "and didn't come to light until some rumor was actually run down by my private investigator" (R 1213). The prosecutor argued that Robert Mohler's testimony was completely irrelevant and therefore would not have been admissible at Petitioner's trial and that any discrepancy concerning the contents of the note in question was immaterial and would not have affected the outcome of the trial (R 1214-5). The trial court then denied the motion (R 1216).

## SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Petitioner, as a teacher, had custodial authority over the victim. Even if, under the circumstances of this case, the mere fact of his being her teacher would not give rise to this status, the additional factors that he had had prior involvement with her outside school hours, at which times she was in his physical custody and control, and that he had access to her house at times when she was there alone, which access was with her parents' knowledge and consent on the basis of his teacher-student relationship with her, are unquestionably sufficient to establish this element of Section 794.041, Florida Statutes (1987).

The three counts of lewd acts on a child charged in counts 1, 3, and 5 of the information are not lesser included offenses of the three counts of sexual activity with a child by a person in familial or custodial authority. Each contains at least one element

that the other does not. The *Blockburger*<sup>1</sup> test is met, and multiple punishments imposed upon Petitioner do not constitute double jeopardy violations.

The trial court's failure to give a lesser included offense instruction was not preserved for appellate review or review by this Court where Petitioner neither requested such an instruction nor objected to the trial court's failure to give it and did not raise the issue on direct appeal.

The victim's testimony was not significantly inconsistent, contradictory, or impeached by other State witnesses. There were some inconsistencies between her testimony and that of other State witnesses, but the same was true for the defense's witnesses. The victim's testimony is neither unreasonable nor improbable, and the jury obviously found it credible. Her testimony and the jury verdicts predicated upon it must stand.

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